

# Research progress on exercise fatigue from the perspective of fatigue biomarkers

Xin Liu<sup>1,2</sup>, Juan Liu<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Beijing Center for Disease Prevention and Control, Beijing Key Laboratory of Diagnostic and Traceability Technologies for Food Poisoning, Beijing, China

<sup>2</sup> Biology and Agriculture Research Center, University of Science and Technology Beijing, Beijing, China

Corresponding Author:

Juan Liu<sup>1</sup>

No. 16 Hepingli Middle Street, Dongcheng District, Beijing, 100013, China

Email address: liujuan0538@foxmail.com

## Abstract

Exercise-induced fatigue refers to the physiological processes of body functions that cannot be sustained at a specific level during exercise or the inability of the organs to maintain a predetermined level of intensity. Exercise-induced fatigue is a comprehensive physiological process, which is mainly reflected in the body's neuromuscular system and cardiovascular system. The study of fatigue-related physiological responses related to exercise-induced fatigue provides crucial insights into the underlying mechanisms, enables the assessment of fatigue levels, and aids in the formulation of effective recovery strategies. This review summarizes the latest advancements in the research of biomarkers associated with exercise-induced fatigue, exploring the mechanisms of various biomarkers, detection methods, and their applications in sports medicine. Studies have shown that energy substances, metabolites, blood bioindicators, central neurotransmitters, free radicals, urine, saliva, etc., are related to exercise-induced fatigue-related biomarkers in human body. Among them, energy-related substances were the first fatigue markers studied, and metabolites in the blood or urine were gradually used as biomarkers as research was deepened and testing methods were upgradedrefined. The presence of central neurotransmitters gradually increased, and researchers gradually emphasized the important role of neurotransmitters in exercise-induced fatigue. Through a comprehensive analysis of

relevant literature, this paper ~~aims-aimed~~ to offer guidance for future research directions and promote a more scientific approach to managing exercise-induced fatigue.

## 1. Introduction

Exercise-induced fatigue can be caused by central nervous system abnormalities, namely central fatigue, or peripheral nervous system disorders(Hsiao et al. 2018). Exercise-induced fatigue is a multifaceted physiological phenomenon that arises from the intricate interplay between various systems, including the nervous, muscular, and metabolic systems(Song et al. 2023). At present, many theories have been proposed on the possible mechanism of exercise-induced fatigue, mainly including energy depletion theory(Ling. 2000), metabolite accumulation theory(Liu et al. 2022;Zhao et al 2023), free radical theory(Chen et al. 2022; Dobryakova et al. 2015; Ronghui 2015), internal environment homeostasis disorder theory(Ament & Verkerke 2009), fatigue chain theory(Girard 2014), central nervous system transmitter imbalance theory, protective inhibition theory, mutation theory, etc., but the mechanism has not been fully elucidated, the identification and understanding of biological markers of exercise-induced fatigue have become increasingly important. Biomarkers are biochemical markers that can mark changes in structure or function from a system to cells or even subcell(Califf 2018). Understanding the biomarkers of exercise-induced fatigue can be beneficial to understand the grading of exercise-induced fatigue, and it is also of guiding value for subsequent therapeutic recovery. This review aims to systematically examine the current research advancements regarding biomarkers of exercise-induced fatigue, analyze their biological underpinnings, and explore their potential clinical applications.

This paper ~~providespresents~~ a narrative review of the latest research progress on exercise-induced fatigue biomarkers, ~~which fillsfilling~~ the knowledge gap in the interdisciplinary field and ~~has-importantpssessing both~~ academic and applied value. This article incorporates markers of different dimensions, such as energy metabolism, metabolites, neurotransmitters, and free radical damage, into a unified framework to elucidate the multi-system interaction mechanism of exercise-induced fatigue and provide theoretical support for interdisciplinary research. ~~The article describesIt disscusses~~ emerging detection technologies, such as microneedle sensors and salivary metabolomics, ~~to-which~~ promote the development of non-invasive, real-time monitoring devices and ~~overcome-address~~ the limitations of traditional blood tests. ~~It highlightsThe article emphasizes~~ the practical value of biomarkers in optimising training programmes, preventing sports injuries, and managing chronic fatigue, ~~thereby~~ providing a ~~basisfoundation~~ for scientific intervention. The

direction of multi-omics integration, standardised testing, individualised intervention, etc. is proposed to show the breakthrough pathway for both academia and industry.

The target audience for this article includes exercise science researchers, clinical and sports medicine practitioners, and sports practitioners who can learn about the latest research progress and mechanism analysis of fatigue markers, how to optimise exercise performance and recovery through plant-based nutrition, and how to adjust training intensity through real-time lactate monitoring. In addition, practitioners in the food and nutrition industry can use this article to understand market demands and Trends in Research and Development, and develop wearable devices or anti-fatigue products with reference to technological trends. By integrating multidisciplinary perspectives, this article aims to provide both scientific depth and practical value to different groups of readers.

## 2. Survey Methodology

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using the PubMed, Google Scholar, SPORTDiscus, and Web of Science databases. The search strategy incorporated the following key terms and combinations: (1) the phrase "exercise fatigue" was combined with "mechanism", "physical", "central", "peripheral" to locate studies related to the mechanisms of exercise-induced fatigue; (2) the term "fatigue biomarker" was paired with "metabolism", "metabolites", "blood", "non-invasive", "urine", "urinary", "saliva", to ensure the retrieval covered different categories of biomarkers; (3) the terms "exercise", "fatigue," and "biomarker" were used in conjunction with "monitor," "detection," "microneedle sensor," "biochip," or "mass spectrometry" to incorporate methodological advances in biomarker quantification and application. While emphasis was placed on recent publications, seminal earlier works were also considered where appropriate. Retrieved records were initially screened for relevance based on title and abstract. Articles meeting the inclusion criteria underwent full-text review and detailed evaluation. Finally, this review identified a total of 117 pertinent articles.

## 3. Physiological Mechanisms of Exercise-induced fatigue

Exercise-induced fatigue can be classified into two primary categories: central fatigue and peripheral fatigue (Chen et al. 2022; European College of Sport Science 2001). Central fatigue originates from the central nervous system (CNS), impacting the brain's ability to initiate and sustain motor output. It is characterized by a reduction in voluntary muscle activation, often associated with psychological factors such as motivation and perceived exertion (Bassett 2000). In contrast, peripheral fatigue occurs at the level of the muscle itself, arising from biochemical changes in muscle fibers during prolonged exercise. This includes

Commented [R1]: When was the literature review completed (start and final date of searches)? This must be included here

the depletion of energy substrates, accumulation of metabolic byproducts like lactate, and alterations in ion concentrations that lead to impaired muscle contractility(Allen et al. 2008; Lei et al. 2024). Studies have shown that central fatigue can be exacerbated by mental fatigue, which influences neurotransmitter levels and alters the perception of effort during physical activity(Baek et al. 2024; Meeusen et al. 2021;Nybo & Secher 2004; Telles et al.; 2023). Understanding these distinctions is crucial for developing targeted interventions to mitigate fatigue and enhance athletic performance(Domínguez et al. 2022 ; Hennessy.2022).

Neurotransmitters play a pivotal role in the onset and progression of exercise-induced fatigue. During physical exertion, neurotransmitters such as dopamine, serotonin, and norepinephrine are involved in regulating mood, motivation, and motor function(Ament & Verkerke 2009). Research indicates that the noradrenergic system, in particular, is linked to central fatigue, as increased norepinephrine levels correlate with heightened perceptions of exertion(Meeusen et al. 2021). Additionally, serotonin is ~~implicated-involved~~ in the fatigue response, as alterations in its levels can influence both physical performance and mental fatigue (Falabrègue et al. 2021). The balance of these neurotransmitters is critical; for instance, low levels of serotonin are associated with increased fatigue and depressive symptoms, suggesting that interventions aimed at optimizing neurotransmitter levels could mitigate fatigue and enhance performance(Ma et al. 2021). Furthermore, the interplay between neurotransmitter systems highlights the complex nature of fatigue, ~~which encompassesencompassing~~ both physiological and psychological dimensions (*Fig. 1*).

Metabolic byproducts, particularly those ~~generated-produced~~ during high-intensity exercise, significantly ~~impact-affect~~ muscle function and contribute to fatigue. The accumulation of lactate and hydrogen ions ~~can lead to a decrease inlowers the~~ pH within muscle cells, impairing enzymatic activity and disrupting calcium handling, which is essential for muscle contraction(Tornero-Aguilera et al. 2022). Additionally, the depletion of glycogen stores during prolonged exercise can limit energy availability, further exacerbating fatigue(Mast et al. 2025). Studies have shown that strategies to enhance recovery, such as carbohydrate supplementation and proper hydration, can mitigate the effects of metabolic byproducts and improve performance outcomes(Keller et al. 2021). Understanding the biochemical pathways involved in fatigue can inform training regimens and recovery protocols, ultimately leading to improved athletic performance and ~~a~~ reduced risk of overtraining or injury.

#### 4. Classification and Characteristics of Major Biomarkers

#### 4.1. Substances related to energy metabolism

The onset and progression of exercise-induced fatigue are intrinsically linked to the body's capacity to generate and regulate energy. Within this context, the depletion, accumulation, and metabolic flux of specific energy substrates and their related compounds serve as critical physiological indicators. Consequently, substances directly involved in cellular energy pathways constitute a primary category of biomarkers for assessing fatigue.

##### 4.1.1. Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and creatine phosphate (CP)

The initial energy demands during exercise are primarily met through the rapid depletion of high-energy phosphagens, notably adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and creatine phosphate (CP), collectively termed the phosphagen system (Fig. 2). As physical activity progresses, the decline in these intramuscular energy reserves correlates directly with diminished contractile capacity.

High-energy phosphate compounds central to exercise metabolism include adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and phosphocreatine (creatine phosphate, PCr). During physical activity, ATP breaks down to release energy, producing adenosine diphosphate (ADP). Phosphocreatine then donates its phosphate group to regenerate ATP from ADP. Concurrently, two ADP molecules can combine via the enzyme myokinase to form one ATP and adenosine monophosphate (AMP), releasing inorganic phosphate ions (Pi) (Hackney 2016a). Generally, energy consumption in a short period of time is mainly based on CP, and the decline can reach more than 90%. It has been well documented that a 70 kg person consumes about four calories (kcal) per minute when taking on a 1-hour walk. As the exercise time increases, the calories consumed gradually increase (Thompson et al. 2013). Therefore, ATP and CP and their related metabolites, AMP, ADP, and Pi, can be used as one of the biomarkers for the preliminary assessment/judgment of exercise-induced fatigue.

##### 4.1.2. Glucose and glycogen

~~When performing long term~~ During prolonged strenuous exercise, the main energy substance consumed is ~~Saccharides~~ ~~saccharides~~. After long exercise, glucose in the blood is consumed. ~~With further extension of exercise duration,~~ ~~When the exercise time is further extended,~~ muscle glycogen and liver glycogen are greatly consumed. ~~At this stage, up to 75–90% of muscle glycogen and more than 90% of liver glycogen stores may be depleted.~~ ~~At this time, the general muscle glycogen can consume 75–90% of the total amount, while the consumption of liver glycogen can reach more than 90%.~~ Glycogen cannot maintain the normal level of blood glucose levels, ~~and often~~ resulting in hypoglycemia ~~and often~~ hypoglycemia will appear at this time (Hackney 2016b; Nelson & Cox 2005).

#### 4.1.3. Fat

As exercise progresses, fat will also begin to be consumed; ~~but however~~ exercise-induced fatigue will not lead to a large reduction of body fat (Romijn et al. 1993; van Loon et al. 2001). Although the overall fat content does not change much, the amount levels of fatty acids and triglycerides in the blood will increase (Liao et al. 2024). In 1998, Li jie's study ~~demonstrated showed~~ that ~~the~~ plasma free fatty acid concentrations in the blood during surface body exercise could increase rise from 0.1 mmol/L to 2 mmol/L. It is generally believed that ~~the appearance of~~ fatigue onset can be delayed ~~at a certain level to some extent~~ if endurance training can improve the utilization of fat during exercise, thereby reducing the consumption of glycogen and ~~the preventing a decline of in~~ blood sugar glucose levels.

#### 4.1.4. Amino acid related to energy metabolism

~~When exercising~~ During exercise, ~~the~~ free amino acids and intracellular amino acids in the blood are consumed and utilized; ~~and Among these~~, glutamine, leucine, isoleucine and valine are the amino acids currently considered to be related to energy metabolism. These amino acids ~~in these blood in blood~~ are consumed as exercise proceeds progresses and can also serve as biomarkers of exercise-induced fatigue (Mcglory & Phillips 2016).

Long exercise consumes glutamine, reducing its levels in the blood and muscle. The enzyme activity of Glutamine is reduced due to the decrease in glycogen and blood glucose (Mioko et al. 2013).

Valine, leucine and isoleucine are all branched-chain amino acids. ~~Branched-chain~~ These amino acids can be catabolized in muscle tissue and can be used by oxidative energy supply. After marathon runners supplemented branched chain amino acids, weariness decreased significantly ~~and improved~~. The results of comprehensive literature show that the branched chain amino acids are beneficial during short-term, moderate-intensity exercise under short time limit intensity are moderate intensity exercise; after prolonged exercise (>3h) or when exercise-induced fatigue occurs, their depletion shows a high correlation with the state of fatigue after long exercise or exercise-induced fatigue (>3h), which has a high correlation with exercise-induced fatigue.

While the depletion of energy substrates like glycogen and CP provides a logical and historically significant explanation for fatigue, their utility as real-time, predictive biomarkers is limited by several factors. Firstly, the direct measurement of intramuscular glycogen is highly invasive and impractical in most athletic settings. Secondly, there is considerable inter-individual variability in substrate utilization rates and fatigue thresholds,

meaning a 'one-size-fits-all' critical level of depletion does not exist (Ament & Verkerke 2009). For instance, well-trained athletes exhibit enhanced glycogen sparing and fat oxidation capabilities, delaying the point at which glycogen depletion triggers fatigue (Zafrilla et al. 2019). Therefore, while these measures are mechanistically crucial, future research should focus on developing non-invasive proxies (e.g., via breath or sweat analysis) or dynamic metabolic models that can predict individual substrate depletion kinetics, rather than relying on static, post-hoc measurements.

#### 4.2. Metabolite

In the course of exercise, the activity of energy metabolism becomes exceptionally vigorous. The leading the body will to generate various metabolic substances. As these metabolites accumulate, they will give rise to contribute to a decline in the body's exercise capacity, thereby leading to the emergence of exercise-induced fatigue. Commonly found metabolites observed during exercise include lactate acid, ammonia, urea, ketone bodies, and the like others. These metabolites are all frequently employed as biomarkers for indicating exercise-induced fatigue. Specifically, lactate acid is produced as a result of via anaerobic glycolysis when the body's oxygen supply is insufficient during intense exercise. Ammonia is a byproduct of protein metabolism, and its accumulation can affect the normal functioning of the nervous system. Urea is a waste product of protein metabolism that needs to be excreted from the body. The presence of ketone bodies indicates that the body is using fat as an energy source, which may occur during prolonged exercise or when carbohydrate reserves are depleted. These metabolites play a crucial role in understanding the physiological changes that occur during exercise and in diagnosing and monitoring exercise-induced fatigue (Khadartsev et al. 2022).

##### 4.2.1. Lactic acid

The human body will consume consumes a lot of ATP and CP after during intense exercise. When these the two are substrates become insufficient, the body begins to use the lactic acid system (anaerobic glycolysis) for energy supply in a short duration time. During at this time process, ATP is produced by glucose under anaerobic conditions. Due to the low efficiency of ATP production by via anaerobic glycolysis, the body will conduct a large amount of anaerobic glycolysis in order to produce enough energy, producing large amounts of lactic acid. Notably, this elevation rise in blood lactate concentration is primarily driven by muscle contraction demands, with a significant contribution from the recruitment of fast-twitch muscle fibers (Sánchez-Medina & González-Badillo, 2011). These fibers are characterized by high force output but low fatigue

resistance, and their heightened expression of glycolytic enzymes (e.g., phosphofructokinase, lactate dehydrogenase) accelerates glycogen breakdown. This causes pyruvate production rates to exceed the oxidative capacity of the mitochondria, leading to disproportionately high lactate generation compared to slow-twitch fibers (Garcia-Sillero et al. 2022). Karlsson et al. found through bicycle experiments in the 80s that exercise-induced fatigue was associated with elevated lactic acid after exercise (Yan et al. 2022).

Lactic acid itself does not cause fatigue; rather, fatigue which is caused by associated with the H<sup>+</sup> dissociated by creatolactate from lactic acid. The decrease in pH affects many processes, including the ability of myoeoagulin-troponin to bind calcium, as well as the activity of many enzymes. Previous studies have confirmed that the pH value decreases, which reduces the activity of kinases such as creatine kinase, ATPase, and phosphofructose kinase (PFK), thereby affecting the metabolism of the lactate system (MeeownMcCown et al. 2010). This mechanism of lactate production, dominated by fast-twitch fiber recruitment, explains the rapid surge in blood lactate observed during high-intensity exercise (Garcia-Sillero et al. 2022). Consequently, lactate and the associated pH decrease remain established biomarkers for assessing exercise-induced fatigue and exhaustive exertion.

#### 4.2.2. Ammonia

Studies have confirmed that during long-term high-intensity exercise, the proteins and amino acids in the human body will be consumed to participate in the energy supply. Due to the decomposition of proteins during long-term exercise, amino acid decomposition produces ammonia (Khadartsev et al. 2022). Studies have shown that the increase in ammonia concentration plays an important role in both central and peripheral fatigue (Meeusen et al. 2006). In general, high concentrations of ammonia can affect ATP synthesis. At the same time, the increase in ammonia concentration will inevitably lead to an increase in osmotic pressure, resulting in internal environmental disorders. In addition, ammonia can enter the brain tissue through the blood-brain barrier, which has a toxic effect on the brain and affects the function of the central nervous system. Current research suggests that ammonia hinders the synthesis of inhibitory GABA (γ-aminobutyric acid). Due to GABA deficiency, nerve control is reduced, resulting in fatigue (Foley et al. 2006).

#### 4.2.3. Urea

Urea is closely associated with the metabolism of amino acids within the human body. Consequently, this enables us to assess the physical functioning and fatigue levels of athletes in a more comprehensive manner. It is widely acknowledged that the quantity of blood urea tends to rise in proportion to the exercise load, and its recovery process is



relatively sluggish. The extent of exercise-induced fatigue is determined by measuring the degree of increase after exercise and the subsequent rate of recovery. When the level of urea in the blood following exercise is 3 mmol/L higher than that before exercise, it can be construed as an indication of a substantial amount of exercise, signifying that the athlete has reached the fatigue threshold(Qian et al. 2024).

Currently, urine and saliva are widely used as non-invasive [biomarkers for fatigue monitoring in sports](#)~~fatigue markers in sports monitoring~~. To improve their measurement accuracy, it is essential to overcome the challenges ~~of~~[in](#) standardizing sample processing and advancing detection technologies~~.~~. [The key steps include:](#) First, [sample collection and storage processes must be strictly standardized. For urine, analysis must be conducted within 2 hours \(or within 3 hours if refrigerated\) to prevent biomarker degradation. For saliva, the addition of RNA stabilizers \(such as RNAlater\) enables preservation at room temperature for up to one year, significantly reducing the risk of biomarker degradation caused by repeated freeze-thaw cycles. strictly standardize the sample collection and storage processes=urine must be tested within 2 hours \(refrigerated for ≤3 hours\) to prevent protein degradation, and saliva samples can be preserved at room temperature for up to one year by adding RNA stabilizers \(such as RNAlater\), significantly reducing the risk of protein denaturation caused by repeated freeze-thaw cycles](#)(Zheng et al. 2025).

Secondly, high-sensitivity detection ~~technology technologies was were~~ applied~~.~~. ~~automatic~~[Automatic](#) online solid-phase microextraction coupled with liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (SPME-LC/MS/MS) achieved a precision of 4.9% for cortisol detection in 40  $\mu$  ~~L~~[L](#) of saliva (quantification limit: 0.03 ng/mL), while magnetic bead-assisted peptide mass analysis (MALDI-TOF MS) can identify fatigue-specific differential peptides within the molecular weight range of 2000-15000 Da, with a cross-validation rate of 95.49%, providing new targets for the development of portable devices(Gervasoni et al. 2018).Further elimination of systematic errors through multimodal data integration: [Combining combining](#) salivary cortisol/  $\alpha$  -amylase with urine urea/uric acid ratios and integrating psychological scales (such as POMS) to establish a machine learning assessment model, reducing the overall error rate by 32%. Additionally, constructing an individualized baseline database (such as resting salivary cortisol ranges) [helps](#) to avoid misjudgments based on group standards, ultimately achieving precise quantification of fatigue states(Sequeira-Antunes & Ferreira 2023).

The traditional view of lactate as a mere fatigue-causing waste product has been profoundly revised. The 'lactate shuttle' hypothesis re-frames lactate as a crucial energy carrier and signaling molecule(Brooks 2018)~~.~~. This paradigm shift ~~criticizes~~[challenges](#) the

oversimplified acidosis model, as the relationship between pH decline and fatigue is not always direct or causal(Westerblad et al. 2002). Similarly, while ammonia and urea levels correlate with protein catabolism and fatigue, their specific mechanistic roles remain inadequately defined. A critical research gap lies in understanding the dynamic interplay between these metabolites. Future studies should move beyond correlative measurements and employ interventions that selectively manipulate individual metabolites to establish causality in fatigue development.

#### 4.3. Metabolic kinases and products in the blood

During exercise, the blood assumes a crucial transportation role, ~~diligently~~ delivering oxygen to meet muscular energy demands ~~while and~~ conveying essential glucose. Metabolites like lactate and ammonia directly reflect energy substrate turnover during ~~exertion~~exercise. Simultaneously, circulating enzymes and signaling molecules in the bloodstream provide critical insights into cellular stress responses and systemic metabolic regulation under fatigue conditions. These biomarkers—including kinases, redox mediators, and endocrine factors—serve dual roles: ~~they act~~ as functional indicators by quantifying energy flux (e.g., ATP regeneration), oxygen dynamics, and mitochondrial efficiency; and as damage signals ~~that~~ revealing membrane integrity loss, oxidative injury, or hormonal dysregulation induced by ~~exertion~~exercise. This section examines key blood-based mediators whose fluctuations correlate strongly with exercise-induced fatigue, spanning energy buffering systems (CK), oxygen transport machinery (Hb), vascular regulators (NO/NOS), mitochondrial enzymes (SDH), and anabolic-catabolic balance (T/C ratio).

##### 4.3.1. Creatine kinase (CK)

Serum creatine kinase (CK) ~~is~~, a crucial enzyme in the biochemical processes, ~~that~~ has the remarkable ability to catalyze the formation of adenosine triphosphate (ATP). ~~primarily~~ through the CK/phosphocreatine (PCr) system, ~~which~~ This system minimizes [ATP]/[ADP] fluctuations during high-intensity activities to sustain contractile function(Dahlstedt et al. 2003). It serves as a reaction-catalytic enzyme for the recovery of ATP, a process that holds significant importance in relation to the maintenance of the energy balance following physical exercise. The presence of serum creatine kinase is primarily attributed to the movement of creatine kinase from within the muscle cells into the serum ~~via across~~ the cell membranes. Typically, the content of serum creatine kinase is ordinarily maintained at a relatively low level. However, when the body undergoes exercise-induced fatigue, it leads to an increase in the permeability of the cell membranes. As a result, creatine kinase is liberated

from the cells and enters the bloodstream, thereby causing a notable elevation ~~in of~~ the serum creatine kinase content(Qian et al. 2024; Shijing et al. 2016).

Additionally, creatine kinase exhibits antioxidant properties by inhibiting lipid peroxidation and protein oxidation during intense exercise. This protective function may mitigate oxidative stress-induced fatigue, suggesting a dual role in both energy metabolism and cellular protection(Miglioranza Scavuzzi & Holoshitz 2022).In acute fatigue scenarios, changes in neuromuscular parameters (e.g., reduced peak power, prolonged contraction time) correlate more strongly with performance decline than creatine kinase elevation, indicating CK's limited sensitivity as a real-time fatigue biomarker during short-term exhaustive exercise(Yáñez 2023).

#### 4.3.2. Hemoglobin

~~Hemoglobin. The~~ ~~the~~ main component of red blood cells, ~~which~~ ~~plays~~ a crucial role in delivering oxygen and carbon dioxide. In cases where the level of hemoglobin is reduced or the demand for oxygen increases, the oxygen supply will fall short. This shortage will subsequently lead to a decrease in ~~the~~ exercise capacity(Yin et al. 2024). During intense physical activity, exercise-induced fatigue can occur, which may cause damage to ~~the~~ red blood cells. As a result, hemoglobin will be released from these damaged cells. This release can lead to a situation where the level of hemoglobin drops below the normal range.(Shijing et al. 2016).

#### 4.3.3. Nitric oxide (NO) and nitric oxide synthase (NOS)

~~The body's nitric~~ Nitric oxide (NO) ~~in the body~~ is enzymatically ~~synthesized~~ ~~catalyzed~~ by nitric oxide synthase (NOS). Nitric oxide plays a crucial role in promoting the augmentation of blood flow and the dilation of blood vessels, thereby regulating the blood supply within the body(Draghici et al. 2024). In the realm of sports, the supplementation of L-Arginine proves to be beneficial. It helps in reducing the muscle injury that athletes may encounter and also contributes to the enhancement of their performance(Lomonosova et al. 2014). This is particularly significant as it directly impacts the athletes' ability to perform at their best and minimize the risk of ~~injuries~~ ~~injury~~ that could potentially hamper their progress and career(Jackman et al. 2010). ~~So Therefore,~~ the decline ~~of in~~ ~~Nitric~~ ~~nitric~~ oxide can cause exercise-induced fatigue.

#### 4.3.4. Succinate dehydrogenase (SDH)

Succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) is a key enzyme in the tricarboxylic acid cycle ~~eyele~~ ~~involved in the inner mitochondrial membrane,~~ ~~which~~ ~~Its~~ activity can be used to assess the aerobic oxidation capacity of athletes(Lewis et al. 2010). Succinate dehydrogenase is located on the inner mitochondrial membrane and does not enter the tissue fluid and thus

into the bloodstream. Due to exercise-induced muscle tissue damage, the increased permeability of the mitochondria leads to an increase in the content of Succinate dehydrogenase in the coating slurry, which can be used to reflect the status of the tricarboxylic acid cycle (Rodrigues et al. 2010).

#### 4.3.5. Testosterone/cortisol (T/C)

Testosterone is an androgen hormone that accelerates the synthesis of substances in the body, while cortisol is a glucocorticoid that promotes the catabolism of substances in the body. The testosterone/cortisol (T/C) ratio represents-serves as an indicator of the anabolic and catabolic balance of nutrients in the body. Unlike free testosterone concentrations that significantly decrease when the body is depleted due to movement, increased cortisol and its receptors cause protein breakdown beyond synthesis levels (Meeusen 2014; Shimomura et al. 2009).

Blood-based biomarkers such as creatine kinase (CK) and hemoglobin are widely used yet frequently misinterpreted. A major limitation is their lack of specificity for fatigue. For instance, elevated CK levels serve as a robust indicator of muscle damage but do not directly reflect the acute state of fatigue that impairs performance within a single exercise bout (Brancaccio et al., 2007). Similarly, a decrease in hemoglobin may result from hemolysis or changes in hydration status, rather than solely indicating a diminished oxygen-carrying capacity. The testosterone-to-cortisol (T/C) ratio, while valuable for assessing long-term anabolic-catabolic balance, is affected by diurnal rhythms, nutrition, and psychological stress, thereby complicating its interpretation in the context of acute fatigue (Küüsmaa et al., 2015; Vaamonde et al., 2022). Thus, these biomarkers are most informative when used as part of an integrated panel rather than as standalone diagnostic tools for fatigue. Future research should focus on identifying novel, more specific blood-borne factors.

#### 4.4. Free-radical-associated biomarkers

Beyond endocrine regulation, intense exercise triggers a cascade of oxidative reactions. When oxygen consumption surges during high-intensity exertion, reactive oxygen species (ROS)—unstable molecules with unpaired electrons—are overproduced via-through mitochondrial electron leakage and neutrophil activation. These radicals initiate chain reactions by "stealing" electrons from lipids, proteins, and DNA, a process that culminating culminates in oxidative stress when ROS production exceeds the body's endogenous exceeding-endogenous antioxidant capacity. This imbalance manifests primarily as through Lipid-lipid peroxidation (measured by Malondialdehyde) and Antioxidant-antioxidant enzyme adaptation (Super-super oxide dismutase, Catalasecatalase, Glutathione-glutathione

peroxidase). Collectively, these biomarkers quantify exercise-induced macromolecular damage and compensatory defenses (Hackney 2016a).

#### 4.4.1. Malondialdehyde (MDA)

Malondialdehyde is a product of degradation by peroxidation in vivo. To some extent, the amount of malondialdehyde concentration can reflect the severity of free radical attack and damage to motor cells. The content of malondialdehyde in lipid peroxidation products increased after exhaustion exercise, which proved that malondialdehyde could be used to determine exhaustion exercise. Mitchell's post-run plasma analysis of ultra-long marathon runners confirmed that malondialdehyde levels in the body were significantly elevated after exercise (Maxwell et al. 2001; Mohammadi et al. 2024).

#### 4.4.2. Super-oxide dismutase (SOD)

Super-oxide dismutase is an important antioxidant perase-enzyme in the free radical scavenging free radical system, and the Its activity level of Super-oxide dismutase activity can represent indicate the level of free radicals in the body body's free radical load. When the body has a high free radical content during exercise-induced fatigue, the high activity of Super-super-oxide dismutase enzymes is required. After prolonged exercise, the results showed a significant increase in malondialdehyde content in the plasma, as well as an increase in the activity of Super-super-oxide dismutase. By analyzing SOD/MDA, it can reflect the free radical production and clear rate in the body, and further analyze the actual changes of free radical metabolism in depth and objectively, and then reflect thereby indicating the degree of exercise-induced fatigue of the body (Zhao et al. 2024).

#### 4.4.3. Catalase (CAT)

Catalase is one of the important-key enzymes for scavenging intracellular  $H_2O_2$  scavenging.  $H_2O_2$  is the reducing-reduction product of  $O_2$ , and it has strong oxidation properties. It can directly oxidize the hydrophobic groups of some enzymes, which can make the enzyme inactive. Catalase can bind to and clear the hydrogen peroxide peroxidase in vivo. Quintanilha found that Catalase-catalase activity was increased in skeletal muscle and cardiac muscle after of rat after aerobic endurance training, indicating that Catalase-catalase activity in muscle can be improved as exercise progressed (Lew & Quintanilha 1991). The activity of Catalase-catalase in the human body is very-highly sensitive to exercise stimulation. Aerobic exercise can significantly promote the increase of Catalase-catalase activity in the body, and if the exercise intensity increases, the Catalase-catalase activity will be further increased (Ekström et al. 2024).

#### 4.4.4. Glutathione peroxidase (GSH-PX)

Glutathione peroxidase is a ~~hydrogen peroxide catabolase~~ enzyme that catalyzes the reduction reaction of  $H_2O_2$  and thus ~~protects~~ protecting membrane structural ~~tionability~~ integrity. Most studies suggest that exercise-induced fatigue ~~causes~~ leads to elevated ~~Glutathione~~ glutathione peroxidase activity. Heavy exercise can cause a significant increase in glutathione peroxidase activity in muscle tissue. ~~Lew et al. reported that when rats ran to exhaustion, glutathione peroxidase, glutathione S-transferase, and glutathione reductase activities increased in the liver and bone, while their activities decreased in plasma~~ Lew et al. reported that when rats ran to exhaustion, the liver, bones, glutathione peroxidase, glutathione S-transferases, and — glutathion reductases activities increased, while the activities of glutathione peroxidase, glutathione S-transferases, and glutathion reductases in plasma decreased (Lew et al. 1985; Wang et al. 2024; Wu et al. 1999).

The role of oxidative stress in fatigue is a field of significant debate. ~~the~~ The 'mitohormesis' theory posits that moderate ROS production is essential for adaptive signaling and training responses (Ristow & Zarse 2010). Therefore, simply observing an increase in MDA or antioxidant enzyme activity does not necessarily indicate deleterious fatigue; it could signify a positive adaptive process. ~~The~~ A majority of studies measure these markers in blood, but their levels may poorly reflect the redox environment within contracting muscle fibers (Powers et al. 2016). Furthermore, the inconsistent outcomes of antioxidant supplementation studies in combating fatigue challenge the simplistic 'oxidants are bad' narrative (Merry & Ristow 2016). Future research should focus on ~~the~~ targeted measurement of redox status in specific cellular compartments and during recovery to determine whether oxidative stress is a cause, a correlate, or a consequence of exercise-induced fatigue.

#### 4.5. Central neurotransmitter-related biomarkers

Extensive research conducted over several years has consistently demonstrated that neurotransmitters within the central nervous system (CNS) play a crucial role in motor fatigue, with particular significance for central fatigue. These studies have established that specific substances, including serotonin, norepinephrine, dopamine, acetylcholine, amino acids, and other compounds, are critically involved in the transmission processes underlying exercise-induced fatigue. Serotonin regulates various physiological pathways contributing to fatigue, while norepinephrine influences stress responses and energy expenditure, both impacting fatigue levels. Dopamine, central to motivation and reward systems, ~~can become dysregulated~~ may see dysregulation associated with fatigue development. Acetylcholine is essential for neuromuscular communication, and its ~~dysfunctional~~ altered function can ~~directly~~

lead directly to muscle fatigue. Additionally, amino acids and other identified compounds have play distinct roles in the complex mechanisms of exercise fatigue.

#### 4.5.1. Hydroxytryptamine (5-HT)

Hydroxytryptamine is a metabolite of tryptophan, which is a very important and a crucial neurotransmitter in the central nervous system and is involved in various physiological roles. Tryptophan is a substrate for hydroxytryptamine synthesis and a rate-limiting substance, and free tryptophan in plasma can enter the brain through the blood-brain barrier and affect hydroxytryptamine. During exercise, lipolysis increases free fatty acids, and free tryptophan increases, which in turn increases hydroxytryptamine synthesis in the brain. Studies have shown that exercise can lead to an increase in hydroxytryptamine levels in the central system, and this increase in hydroxytryptamine is associated with the development of central fatigue. In 1987, Newsholme et al. first proposed that hydroxytryptamine may be a regulator of central fatigue. Hydroxytryptamine acts as an inhibitory transmitter that reduces the impulse to be released from the center to the periphery and thus reduces exercise capacity. Studies have also confirmed that with the extension of exercise time, the anabolism of hydroxytryptamine, dopamine, etc. in the brain of the body will decrease (Newsholme & Blomstrand 1995, Castrogiovanni & Imbesi 2012).

#### 4.5.2. Dopamine (DA)

Dopamine can regulate the tension degree of the muscle tissue, and dopamine was the first neurotransmitter confirmed to play an important role in exercise-induced fatigue (Liao et al. 2024). Usually, dopamine metabolism increases throughout the brain after exercise. Sutoo (Allen et al. 2008) has found that there are two main reasons for the increase in dopamine in the brain after initial exercise, one is to promote the synthesis of dopamine, and the other is to promote the binding of dopamine receptors. However, studies have shown that the synthesis of dopamine in the rat midbrain is weakened when fatigue occurs in the center during central fatigue, and that a high content of dopamine level can delay the development of fatigue development (Kanter et al. 1985; Lu et al. 2024). These studies have shown that when exercise-induced fatigue, the amount of dopamine in the brain decreases.

#### 4.5.3. Noradrenaline (NE)

Noradrenaline is a neurotransmitter synthesized and secreted by adrenergic nerve terminals. It and NE is produced from dopamine through catalysis by the enzyme dopamine  $\beta$ -hydroxylase. DA catalyzed by dopamine  $\beta$ -hydroxylase. Studies have confirmed that noradrenaline in the hypothalamus decreases after exercise and exhaustion, and the content of noradrenaline can affect the metabolic level of noradrenalin, both of which can inhibit the

normal effect of the hypothalamus(Hackney 2016b; Lew et al. 1985), which is one of the causes of exercise-induced fatigue.

#### 4.5.4. Acetylcholine(Ach)

Acetylcholine is a cholinergic neurotransmitter released within the central nervous system by cholinergic nerve endings. ~~The~~ Its synthesis and release ~~of acetylcholine play an important role in the~~ are vital for central nervous system. The synthesis rate of acetylcholine is affected by the precursor choline. After running a marathon, the level of choline in the plasma drops by 40%, and supplementing with choline drinks to maintain plasma choline levels will delay the onset of fatigue. Supplementing with choline drinks during marathons can delay the onset of fatigue(Fecik et al. 2024).

#### 4.5.5. Amino acid (Neurotransmitter correlation)

At present, it is believed that the amino acids related to central fatigue mainly include gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), glutamic acid (Glu), and branched-chain amino acids (BCAA). ~~BCAAs, which include isoleucine, leucine, and valine, are important for energy supply. As discussed earlier, the role of BCAAs in fatigue has been introduced BCAAs mainly include isoleucine, leucine and valine, which are important amino acids involved in energy supply, and we have introduced branched-chain amino acids earlier~~(Roelands et al. 2009).

Gamma-aminobutyric acid is an inhibitory neurotransmitter. One ~~of the~~ causes of central motor fatigue is ~~the~~ an increase ~~of in~~ gamma-aminobutyric acid ~~levels~~. With the extension of exercise time, the body will appear hypoxia, making the gamma-aminobutyric acid oxidation process weakened, and the high concentration of gamma-aminobutyric acid will cause postsynaptic inhibition(Sutoo & Akiyama 2003). Elevated levels of gamma-aminobutyric acid in the brain can lead to exercise-induced fatigue.

Glutamic acid is a neurotransmitter related to excitability in the central nervous system, which is very abundant in the brain, and normal levels of glutamic acid play an important role in maintaining neuronal excitability, and glutamic acid is the transmitter of most excitatory synapses. When the amount of glutamic acid in the brain changes abnormally, it leads to a decline in the function of the central system, which is one ~~of the~~ causes of exercise-induced fatigue(Li et al. 2020).

#### 4.5.6. Tissue endothelin(ET)

NO can promote vasodilation and is also an important neurotransmitter, which has an important physiological role in exercise, especially in the cardiovascular system. NO is mainly manifested in tissue cells as intracellular messenger molecules, which can cause vascular smooth muscle relaxation through the cGMP interaction. Studies have confirmed that normally NOS is functionally active in brain tissue, and the expression of NOS can be



significantly weakened after heavy-load exercise training, indicating that fatigue can reduce NOS expression in brain tissue(Anish 2005).

ET is an active small molecule polypeptide that promotes vasoconstriction, and its constrictive effect on blood vessels is the most effective substance, contrary to the effect of NO. Previous studies have confirmed that exercise promotes the enhancement of tissue endothelin expression, causing vasoconstriction, which in turn leads to hypoxia in the body. The expression of tissue endothelin is highly correlated with exercise intensity, and exercise-induced fatigue occurs due to ischemia and hypoxia when the exercise load is too large. ~~Tissue endothelin is an active small molecule polypeptide that promotes vasoconstriction, and it is the best effective substance, contrary to the effect of NO~~(Meeusen et al. 2007).

A key limitation in this field remains the overreliance on peripheral measures to infer central neurotransmitter changes. Since the blood-brain barrier ~~prevents restricts~~ free exchange of molecules between the periphery and the brain, such inferences are highly speculative (Meeusen et al., 2007).The classic “central fatigue hypothesis,” once centered on hydroxytryptamine, has been challenged: dopamine and noradrenaline are now ~~regarded as considered~~ equally important in regulating motivation and perceived exertion (Roelands & Meeusen, 2010). Methodological constraints also ~~pose a problem present a challenge~~. While animal studies permit direct brain measurement via techniques like microdialysis, human studies rely on indirect proxies. Notably, interactions between peripheral metabolites and central neurotransmission form a promising yet underexplored research frontier.

#### 4.6. Biomarkers in the urine

By meticulously measuring the concentration of metabolites in the urine using advanced analytical techniques, it is possible to indirectly mirror the metabolic changes occurring in the body. This, in turn, enables us to infer the extent of exercise-induced fatigue. The analysis of urine metabolites provides valuable insights into the body's response to physical exertion and helps in understanding the mechanisms underlying exercise-induced fatigue(Thompson et al. 2013). Moreover, urinalysis is of great significance in clinical and athletic body evaluation. Biomarkers in urine are one of the reliable indicators for detecting exercise-induced fatigue( *Table1*).

#### 4.7. Saliva

Saliva is ~~indeed~~ a highly convenient, completely safe, and non-invasive characteristic for collection. In recent years, the research focused on the utilization of saliva to gauge the exercise status has been drawing an increasing amount of attention. This is particularly true in the field of sports. For athletes, the option of using saliva instead of blood and urine to evaluate the body's athletic condition presents itself as a significantly faster and more

convenient approach. The potential of saliva as a [source of](#) biomarker for assessing exercise-induced physiological changes is being explored in numerous studies. [The collection of saliva](#) Its collection is not only less invasive but also more readily accepted by athletes, [thereby](#) reducing the discomfort and potential risks associated with traditional methods. Moreover, the analysis of saliva can provide valuable insights into various aspects of an athlete's physical condition, [including such as](#) hormone levels, immune function, and oxidative stress. This emerging field of research holds great promise for improving the monitoring and management of athletes' health and performance. In the future, further advancements in [saliva-based salivary](#) biomarker research are expected to lead to more accurate and comprehensive assessments of the body's response to exercise, enabling athletes and coaches to make more informed decisions regarding training and competition (Hackney 2016b).

#### 4.7.1. Saliva PH

Due to the increase in lactic acid production after long-term strenuous exercise, the amount of CO<sub>2</sub> in the blood increases, and acidic substances such as ketone bodies and pyruvate accumulate, resulting in a decrease in the pH value of blood and thus a decrease in the pH value of saliva (Grzesiak-Gasek & Kaczmarek 2022). When exercise-induced fatigue, acidosis often occurs, acidosis can reduce the body's muscle exercise capacity and also cause symptoms of central nervous system fatigue. Adequate alkaline substances should be supplemented after exercise.

#### 4.7.2. Salivary immunoglobulin A (SIgA)

Salivary immunoglobulin A level is one of the important indicators of human immune status. After intensive exercise or long and intense exercise, the immunosuppression caused by exercise leads to a decrease in immunoglobulin A level. [Most research indicates that s-IgA level can serve as an indicator for evaluating exercise load, as it decreases following short periods of intense exhaustive exercise. Most research results show that the immunoglobulin A level can be used as one of the indicators of a transport work evaluation, and the human saliva immunoglobulin A levels will decrease after a short period of intense exhaustion exercise.](#) Fahlman et al. (Meeusen 2014; Shimomura et al. 2009) performed 30s full anaerobic work test for 3 minutes, which indicated that a temporary decrease in saliva immunoglobulin A levels in women. In summary, saliva immunoglobulin A [can be used to is a valuable biomarker for assessing exercise-induced fatigue evaluate the biomarkers of exercise-induced fatigue.](#)

#### 4.7.3. Other components in the saliva were used as biomarkers

With the development of high-throughput technology and their application in athletics, more components are identified in saliva, and they can replace the corresponding detection in the blood. These ~~other~~ components are also markers of exercise activity. Guo Fei(Lacerda et al. 2005) et al. used the serum and saliva of athletes before and after exercise as the research object, and found the sports-related biochemical indicators in saliva. Michael(Giles et al. 2012) et al. identified a class of small molecule proteins (sMW) in saliva after exercise through high-throughput proteome combined chromatography and mass spectrometry, and then correlated the fatigue degree of each peptide exercise, and obtained a positive correlation between a class of small molecule proteins and exercise-induced fatigue.

Enthusiasm for non-invasive biomarkers must be tempered by a critical awareness of their pre-analytical and analytical vulnerabilities. Hydration status significantly influences urinary analyte concentration, necessitating creatinine correction and rigorous sampling protocols (Cone et al., 2009). Similarly, salivary measurements of hormones such as cortisol and IgA are exquisitely sensitive to circadian rhythms, sampling techniques (stimulated vs. unstimulated), and oral health status (Grzesiak-Gasek & Kaczmarek, 2022). A key limitation is that many studies report changes in these biomarkers without first establishing validated, population-specific reference ranges under exercise conditions. Consequently, although non-invasive biomarkers are well-suited for longitudinal monitoring, their current utility for cross-sectional or single-time-point diagnosis of fatigue remains limited. The future direction lies in developing integrated sensor systems for real-time biomarker measurement, combined with machine learning methods to interpret the complex, multi-parameter data they generate.

## **5.—5. Detection Methods for Biomarkers**

### **5.1. Development of blood testing technologies**

The evolution of blood testing technologies has significantly enhanced the detection and monitoring of biomarkers ~~in for~~ various diseases. Traditional methods, such as enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs) and blood routine tests, have paved the way for more advanced techniques. Blood routine testing is widely employed not only in clinical practice but also for assessing athletes' physical conditions, ~~enabling-providing~~ deeper insights into the relationships ~~between-among~~ blood biomarkers, exercise performance, and exercise-induced fatigue. Recent innovations include microfluidic devices that ~~allow-forenable~~ the analysis of small blood volumes, thus minimizing patient discomfort and enabling point-of-care testing (POCT)(Kim et al. 2022). Moreover, the integration of biosensors with nanotechnology has facilitated the real-time monitoring of biomarkers, ~~such as~~ glucose and

lactate, in a minimally invasive manner(Hu et al. 2024). These advancements not only improve diagnostic accuracy but also support personalized medicine by enabling tailored treatment strategies based on individual biomarker profiles. Furthermore, the development of portable devices for blood analysis has the potential to revolutionize healthcare delivery, particularly in remote or under-resourced areas(Hu et al. 2022).Nanotechnology-integrated biosensors facilitate real-time detection of critical fatigue markers: Monash's 5-biomarker nano-sensor identifies 24-hour sleep deprivation with >99% accuracy for drowsy driving legislation , while subcutaneous microneedle arrays synchronize glucose/urea dynamics with ecological momentary assessment (EMA) to pinpoint dialysis-induced hypoglycemia as a modifiable fatigue trigger (Brys et al. 2021).These portable systems overcome geographical barriers—battlefield TRP/BCAA ratio detection via paper-based microfluidics reduces accident rates by 29% through targeted nutritional intervention (Pollock et al. 2012).As research continues to explore novel biomarker candidates and detection methods, the landscape of blood testing technologies is poised for further transformation, ultimately leading to improved patient outcomes (*Fig. 3*).

**5.2. Analysis of biomarkers in urine and saliva**

Urine and saliva have emerged as valuable non-invasive biofluids for biomarker analysis, offering significant advantages over traditional blood sampling methods. Urine is particularly advantageous due to its ease of collection and the presence of a wide range of biomarkers indicative of various diseases, including kidney dysfunction and metabolic disorders(Meng et al. 2023). Recent studies have employed advanced techniques, such as mass spectrometry and liquid chromatography, to identify and quantify urinary biomarkers with high precision(Xu et al. 2023). Similarly, saliva has gained attention for its potential to reflect systemic health, with numerous studies highlighting the presence of biomarkers related to oral health, systemic diseases, and even cancer(Eftekhari et al. 2022). The development of portable devices for saliva analysis, coupled with advancements in proteomics and metabolomics, has enhanced the feasibility of using saliva as a diagnostic tool(Sánchez-Medina & González-Badillo 2011).

**5.3 Emerging technologies: microneedle sensors and biochips**

Microneedle sensors and biochips represent the forefront of biomarker detection technologies, combining minimal invasiveness with high sensitivity and specificity. Microneedles allow for the painless extraction of interstitial fluid, which can be analyzed for various biomarkers, including glucose, lactate, and electrolytes, in real-time(Dervisevic et al. 2024). Recent advancements in microneedle technology have led to the development of integrated biosensing platforms capable of multiplexed biomarker detection, enabling

comprehensive health monitoring(Huang et al. 2023). Additionally, biochips, which utilize microfabrication techniques, have revolutionized the way biomarkers are detected by allowing for high-throughput analysis and the simultaneous measurement of multiple analytes(Zhong et al. 2024). These technologies not only enhance diagnostic capabilities but also facilitate personalized medicine by providing continuous monitoring of biomarkers in various physiological conditions. As research continues to refine these technologies and address current limitations, the application of microneedle sensors and biochips in clinical settings is expected to expand, ultimately improving patient care and outcomes(Teymourian et al. 2021).

**6.6. Future Research Directions and Challenges**

**6.1. Applications of Multi-Omics Technologies in Exercise-induced fatigue Research**

The advent of multi-omics technologies has revolutionized the understanding of exercise-induced fatigue by integrating various biological data types, including genomics, proteomics, metabolomics, and transcriptomics. These technologies enable researchers to obtain a comprehensive view of the molecular mechanisms underlying fatigue during and after exercise. For instance, recent studies have shown that integrating transcriptomic data with metabolomic profiles can help elucidate the metabolic pathways that are altered during fatigue, providing insights into how different energy substrates are utilized by skeletal muscle(Xia et al. 2023). Furthermore, multi-omics approaches can identify novel biomarkers for fatigue, which could be instrumental in developing personalized exercise regimens tailored to individual metabolic responses. However, challenges remain in standardizing the application of these technologies, particularly regarding data integration and interpretation across different studies. Future research should focus on establishing standardized protocols for sample collection and analysis to enhance reproducibility and comparability of findings across diverse populations and exercise modalities(Ni et al. 2022).

**6.2. Standardization and Clinical Applications of Biomarkers**

The clinical application of biomarkers for exercise-induced fatigue is hindered by a lack of standardization in their measurement and interpretation. Biomarkers such as lactate levels, heart rate variability, and cytokine profiles have shown promise in assessing fatigue, yet their clinical utility is often limited by variability in testing methods and patient populations(Sopić et al. 2024). To address these challenges, it is essential to develop standardized protocols that encompass all aspects of biomarker assessment, including pre-

analytical variables, assay techniques, and interpretation frameworks(Kolev et al. 2022). Additionally, establishing clear guidelines for the clinical application of these biomarkers could facilitate their integration into routine practice, enabling healthcare professionals to monitor fatigue more effectively and tailor interventions accordingly. Future research should prioritize multi-center studies that validate the clinical relevance of fatigue biomarkers and explore their predictive capacity for exercise tolerance and recovery in various populations, including athletes and individuals with chronic diseases (Zhang et al. 2024).

**6.3. Individual Variability in Exercise-induced fatigue Biomarkers**

Understanding the individual differences in exercise-induced fatigue is crucial for developing personalized approaches to training and recovery. Recent studies have highlighted significant variability in muscle fatigue tolerance and recovery rates among individuals, influenced by genetic, physiological, and psychological factors(Holgado et al. 2023). This variability suggests that a one-size-fits-all approach to exercise may not be effective for all individuals, emphasizing the need for personalized training programs that consider these differences. Future research should focus on identifying specific biomarkers that correlate with individual fatigue responses, potentially through the use of wearable technology and real-time monitoring systems that assess physiological parameters during exercise(Li et al. 2022). To effectively assess an individual user's fatigue state, the use of the Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE) scale is a practical and scientifically sound core solution. Its key advantages include ease of use, real-time feedback, and robust evidence-based support. RPE values integrate central nervous system and muscle metabolic signals, not only reflecting an individual's current fatigue level but also enabling precise intervention by identifying personalized “fatigue points,” thereby mitigating the risk of overtraining. By widely applying RPE as a foundational tool in scenarios such as sports training and occupational health, and by integrating wearable device data in the future to establish a “subjective + objective” dual-track verification system, the precision of individualized fatigue management can be further enhanced(Zhao et al. 2025).Additionally, exploring the interplay between psychological factors, such as motivation and mental fatigue, and physical performance could provide deeper insights into the mechanisms of exercise-induced fatigue and recovery. By addressing these individual differences, researchers can enhance the effectiveness of interventions aimed at mitigating exercise-induced fatigue and improving overall athletic performance(Royer et al. 2024).

**7-7. Conclusions and Outlook**

765  
766  
767 This review has synthesized current understandings of biomarkers associated with  
768 exercise-induced fatigue, covering energy substrates, metabolic byproducts, blood  
769 biochemical indicators, oxidative stress parameters, neurotransmitters, and non-invasive  
770 biomarkers. While these markers collectively shed light on the multifaceted nature of  
771 fatigue, the field remains limited by a predominance of correlative findings and fragmented  
772 insights. Moving toward a more integrated, dynamic, and causally informed understanding of  
773 fatigue mechanisms is imperative for further scientific and practical progress.

774 Substantial evidence supports the roles of classical biomarkers—such as lactate,  
775 ammonia, creatine kinase, and cortisol—in the study of exercise-induced fatigue. However,  
776 their interpretation is often challenging due to limited specificity, high contextual  
777 variability, and complex interactions between peripheral and central mechanisms.  
778 Meanwhile, non-invasive biomarkers from saliva and urine offer promising avenues for real-  
779 time monitoring, yet their application is hindered by insufficient standardization and  
780 validation within athletic populations. Similarly, emerging technologies like microneedle  
781 sensors and multi-omics platforms show great potential, but translating these tools into  
782 sport-specific settings requires further methodological refinement and integrated data  
783 analysis.

784 Looking ahead, research should prioritize elucidating the temporal dynamics and causal  
785 relationships underlying biomarker fluctuations. This will require leveraging interventional  
786 study designs and advanced computational models to decode complex, system-wide  
787 physiological networks. There is also a critical need to harmonize laboratory-based measures  
788 with field-based monitoring tools, while accounting for individual variability in baseline  
789 values and biomarker responses. Furthermore, integrating physiological indicators with  
790 perceptual and cognitive dimensions of fatigue will be essential to develop comprehensive,  
791 multidimensional assessment frameworks.

792 In summary, the continued advancement of research on exercise-induced fatigue  
793 depends on the adoption of integrative approaches that combine multidimensional  
794 biomarker systems, advanced technologies, and principles of personalized medicine. By  
795 addressing existing methodological limitations and prioritizing mechanistic clarity, the field  
796 can develop more effective strategies to monitor, mitigate, and manage fatigue—thereby  
797 enhancing human performance and well-being in both athletic and general populations.

## 798 References

799 Allen DG, Lamb GD, and Westerblad H. 2008. Skeletal muscle fatigue: cellular mechanisms. *Physiol Rev* 88:287-332.  
800 10.1152/physrev.00015.2007

- Ament W, and Verkerke GJ. 2009. Exercise and Fatigue. *Sports Medicine* 39:389-422. 10.2165/00007256-200939050-00005
- Anish EJ. 2005. Exercise and its effects on the central nervous system. *Curr Sports Med Rep* 4:18-23. 10.1097/01.csmr.0000306066.14026.77
- Baek SH, Baek S, Kim G, Chi AS, Kim E, Hwang DH, Ko S, Jang HJ, and Lee KP. 2024. Possible effect of exercise with anti-fatigue nutrition on ROS-induced depression and suicide risk: a review. *Phys Act Nutr* 28:52-58. 10.20463/pan.2024.0016
- Bassett DR. 2000. Limiting factors for maximum oxygen uptake and determinants of endurance performance. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 32. 10.1097/00005768-200001000-00012
- Brancaccio P, Maffulli N, and Limongelli FM. 2007. Creatine kinase monitoring in sport medicine. *Br Med Bull* 81:82:209-230. 10.1093/bmb/ldm014
- Brooks GA. 2018. The Science and Translation of Lactate Shuttle Theory. *Cell Metab* 27:757-785. 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.03.008
- Brys ADH, Stiff F, Van Heugten CM, Bossola M, Gambaro G, and Lenaert B. 2021. mHealth-based experience sampling method to identify fatigue in the context of daily life in haemodialysis patients. *Clinical Kidney Journal* 14:245-254. 10.1093/ckj/sfaa124
- Califf RM. 2018. Biomarker definitions and their applications. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* 243:213-221. 10.1177/1535370217750088
- Castrogiovanni P, and Imbesi R. 2012. Oxidative stress and skeletal muscle in exercise. *Ital J Anat Embryol* 117:107-117.
- Chen Q, and Liu S. 2022. Influence of Network Multimedia Nutritional Supplements on Basketball Exercise Fatigue Based on Embedded Microprocessor. *Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing* 2022:7900467. <https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/7900467>
- Chen Q, Liu S, and Lv H. 2022. Influence of Network Multimedia Nutritional Supplements on Basketball Exercise Fatigue Based on Embedded Microprocessor. *Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing* 2022:1-13. 10.1155/2022/7900467
- Chiron F, Erblang M, Gulören B, Bredariol F, Hamri I, Leger D, Hanon C, Tiollier E, and Thomas C. 2024. Exploring the Influence of Acid-Base Status on Athletic Performance during Simulated Three-Day 400 m Race. *Nutrients* 16. 10.3390/nu16131987
- Cone EJ, Caplan YH, Moser F, Robert T, Shelby MK, and Black DL. 2009. Normalization of urinary drug concentrations with specific gravity and creatinine. *J Anal Toxicol* 33:1-7. 10.1093/jat/33.1.1
- Corsetti R, Barassi A, Perego S, Sansoni V, Rossi A, Damele CA, Melzi D'Eril G, Banfi G, and Lombardi G. 2016. Changes in urinary amino acids excretion in relationship with muscle activity markers over a professional cycling stage race: in search of fatigue markers. *Amino Acids* 48:183-192. 10.1007/s00726-015-2077-z
- Coso JD, Salinero JJ, Abián-Vicen J, González-Millán C, Garde S, Vega P, and Pérez-González B. 2013. Influence of body mass loss and myoglobinuria on the development of muscle fatigue after a marathon in a warm environment. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism* 38:286-291. 10.1139/apnm-2012-0241 %M 23537020
- Dahlstedt AJ, Katz A, Tavi P, and Westerblad H. 2003. Creatine Kinase Injection Restores Contractile Function in Creatine - Kinase - Deficient Mouse Skeletal Muscle Fibres. *The Journal of Physiology* 547:395-403. 10.1113/jphysiol.2002.034793
- Dervisevic M, Jara Fornerod MJ, Harberts J, Zangabad PS, and Voelcker NH. 2024. Wearable Microneedle Patch for Transdermal Electrochemical Monitoring of Urea in Interstitial Fluid. *ACS Sens* 9:932-941. 10.1021/acssensors.3c02386
- Dobryakova E, Genova HM, DeLuca J, and Wylie GR. 2015. The Dopamine Imbalance Hypothesis of Fatigue in Multiple Sclerosis and Other Neurological Disorders. *Frontiers in Neurology* 6. 10.3389/fneur.2015.00052
- Dominguez R, Maté-Muñoz JL, Cuenca E, García-Fernández P, Mata-Ordoñez F, Lozano-Estevan MC, Veiga-Herreros P, da Silva SF, and Garnacho-Castaño MV. 2022. Effects of beetroot juice supplementation on intermittent high-intensity exercise efforts. *Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition* 15. 10.1186/s12970-017-0204-9
- Draghici AE, Ely MR, Hamner JW, and Taylor JA. 2024. Nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation in human bone. *Microcirculation* 31:e12842. 10.1111/micc.12842
- Eftekhari A, Maleki Dizaj S, Sharifi S, Salatin S, Khalilov R, Samiei M, Zununi Vahed S, and Ahmadian E. 2022. Salivary biomarkers in cancer. *Adv Clin Chem* 110:171-192. 10.1016/bs.acc.2022.06.005



Ekström M, Lewthwaite H, Li PZ, Bourbeau J, Tan WC, and Jensen D. 2025. Identifying Abnormal Exertional Breathlessness in COPD: Comparing Modified Medical Research Council and COPD Assessment Test With Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing. *Chest* 167:697-711. 10.1016/j.chest.2024.10.027

European College of Sport Science. 2001. European journal of sport science : EJSS. Champaign, Ill.

Falabregue M, Boschat AC, Jouffroy R, Derquennes M, Djemai H, Sanquer S, Barouki R, Coumoul X, Toussaint JF, Hermine O, Noirez P, and Côté F. 2021. Lack of Skeletal Muscle Serotonin Impairs Physical Performance. *Int J Tryptophan Res* 14:11786469211003109. 10.1177/11786469211003109

Fecik MJ, Nunes PT, Vetreno RP, and Savage LM. 2024. Voluntary wheel running exercise rescues behaviorally-evoked acetylcholine efflux in the medial prefrontal cortex and epigenetic changes in ChAT genes following adolescent intermittent ethanol exposure. *PLoS One* 19:e0311405. 10.1371/journal.pone.0311405

Foley TE, Greenwood BN, Day HE, Koch LG, Britton SL, and Fleshner M. 2006. Elevated central monoamine receptor mRNA in rats bred for high endurance capacity: implications for central fatigue. *Behav Brain Res* 174:132-142. 10.1016/j.bbr.2006.07.018

Garcia-Sillero M, Chulvi-Medrano I, Maroto-Izquierdo S, Bonilla DA, Vargas-Molina S, and Benítez-Porres J. 2022. Effects of Preceding Transcranial Direct Current Stimulation on Movement Velocity and EMG Signal during the Back Squat Exercise. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 11. 10.3390/jcm11175220

Gervasoni J, Primiano A, Graziani C, Scaldaferrì F, Gasbarrini A, Urbani A, and Persichilli S. 2018. Validation of UPLC-MS/MS Method for Determination of Urinary Lactulose/Mannitol. *Molecules* 23. 10.3390/molecules23102705

Giles LV, Warburton DE, Esch BT, Fedoruk MN, Rupert JL, and Taunton JE. 2012. The effects of exercise in hypoxic and normoxic conditions on endothelin-1 and arterial compliance. *J Sports Sci* 30:261-267. 10.1080/02640414.2011.633546

Girard O. 2014. La Fatiga Neuromuscular en el Tenis: ¿La Mente Sobre los Músculos? *ITF Coaching & Sport Science Review* 22:10-13. 10.52383/itfcoaching.v22i63.499

Grzesiak-Gasek I, and Kaczmarek U. 2022. Influence of Swimming Training Session on Selected Saliva Components in Youth Swimmers. *Front Physiol* 13:869903. 10.3389/fphys.2022.869903

Hackney AC. 2016a. Energy and Energy Metabolism: Exercise, Sport, and Bioanalytical Chemistry. Elsevier

Hackney AC. 2016b. *Energy Metabolism of Macronutrients During Exercise: Exercise, Sport, and Bioanalytical Chemistry. Elsevier*

Hennessy R. 2022. Sprint decrement during a simulated rugby sevens tournament is more related to lactate threshold than aerobic capacity.

Holgado D, Jolidon L, Borragán G, Sanabria D, and Place N. 2023. Individualized Mental Fatigue Does Not Impact Neuromuscular Function and Exercise Performance. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 55:1823-1834. 10.1249/mss.0000000000003221

Hu S, Yang C, and Luo H. 2022. Current trends in blood biomarker detection and imaging for Alzheimer's disease. *Biosens Bioelectron* 210:114278. 10.1016/j.bios.2022.114278

Hu Y, Chatzilakou E, Pan Z, Traverso G, and Yetisen AK. 2024. Microneedle Sensors for Point-of-Care Diagnostics. *Adv Sci (Weinh)* 11:e2306560. 10.1002/advs.202306560

Huang X, Zheng S, Liang B, He M, Wu F, Yang J, Chen HJ, and Xie X. 2023. 3D-assembled microneedle ion sensor-based wearable system for the transdermal monitoring of physiological ion fluctuations. *Microsyst Nanoeng* 9:25. 10.1038/s41378-023-00497-0

Jackman SR, Witard OC, Jeukendrup AE, and Tipton KD. 2010. Branched-chain amino acid ingestion can ameliorate soreness from eccentric exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 42:962-970. 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181c1b798

Kanter MM, Lesmes GR, Nequin ND, Kaninsky LA, and Saeger JM. 1985. Serum enzyme levels and lipid peroxidation in ultramarathon runners. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 17:245.

Keller RM, Beaver LM, Reardon PN, Prater MC, Truong L, Robinson MM, Tanguay RL, Stevens JF, and Hord NG. 2021. Nitrate-induced improvements in exercise performance are coincident with exuberant changes in metabolic genes and the metabolome in zebrafish (Danio rerio) skeletal muscle. *J Appl Physiol (1985)* 131:142-157. 10.1152/japplphysiol.00185.2021

Khadartsev AA, Fudin NA, and Badtieva VA. 2022. [Mitochondrial aspects of fatigue in sports]. *Vopr Kurortol Fizioter Lech Fiz Kult* 99:67-73. 10.17116/kurort20229904167

Kim SY, Lee JP, Shin WR, Oh IH, Ahn JY, and Kim YH. 2022. Cardiac biomarkers and detection methods for myocardial infarction. *Mol Cell Toxicol* 18:443-455. 10.1007/s13273-022-00287-1

- Kolev M, Horn MP, Semmo N, and Nagler M. 2022. Rational development and application of biomarkers in the field of autoimmunity: A conceptual framework guiding clinicians and researchers. *J Transl Autoimmun* 5:100151. 10.1016/j.jtauto.2022.100151
- Kondoh Y, Kawase M, and Ohmori S. 1992. D-lactate concentrations in blood, urine and sweat before and after exercise. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol* 65:88-93. 10.1007/bf01466280
- Küusmaa M, Sedliak M, and Häkkinen K. 2015. Effects of time-of-day on neuromuscular function in untrained men: Specific responses of high morning performers and high evening performers. *Chronobiol Int* 32:1115-1124. 10.3109/07420528.2015.1065269
- Lacerda AC, Marubayashi U, and Coimbra CC. 2005. Nitric oxide pathway is an important modulator of heat loss in rats during exercise. *Brain Res Bull* 67:110-116. 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2005.06.002
- Lei Y, Gan M, Qiu Y, Chen Q, Wang X, Liao T, Zhao M, Chen L, Zhang S, Zhao Y, Niu L, Wang Y, Zhu L, and Shen L. 2024. The role of mitochondrial dynamics and mitophagy in skeletal muscle atrophy: from molecular mechanisms to therapeutic insights. *Cellular & Molecular Biology Letters* 29. 10.1186/s11658-024-00572-y
- Lew H, Pyke S, and Quintanilha A. 1985. Changes in the glutathione status of plasma, liver and muscle following exhaustive exercise in rats. *FEBS Lett* 185:262-266. 10.1016/0014-5793(85)80919-4
- Lew H, and Quintanilha A. 1991. Effects of endurance training and exercise on tissue antioxidative capacity and acetaminophen detoxification. *Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet* 16:59-68. 10.1007/bf03189876
- Lewis GD, Farrell L, Wood MJ, Martinovic M, Arany Z, Rowe GC, Souza A, Cheng S, McCabe EL, Yang E, Shi X, Deo R, Roth FP, Asnani A, Rhee EP, Systrom DM, Semigran MJ, Vasan RS, Carr SA, Wang TJ, Sabatine MS, Clish CB, and Gerszten RE. 2010. Metabolic signatures of exercise in human plasma. *Sci Transl Med* 2:33ra37. 10.1126/scitranslmed.3001006
- Li R, Dai Z, Hu D, Zeng H, Fang Z, Zhuang Z, Xu H, Huang Q, Cui Y, and Zhang H. 2020. Mapping the Alterations of Glutamate Using Glu-Weighted CEST MRI in a Rat Model of Fatigue. *Front Neurol* 11:589128. 10.3389/fneur.2020.589128
- Li Z, Yi C, Chen C, Liu C, Zhang S, Li S, Gao D, Cheng L, Zhang X, Sun J, He Y, and Xu P. 2022. Predicting individual muscle fatigue tolerance by resting-state EEG brain network(). *J Neural Eng* 19. 10.1088/1741-2552/ac8502
- Liao H, Zhu S, Li Y, and Huang D. 2024. The Synergistic Effect of Compound Sugar with Different Glycemic Indices Combined with Creatine on Exercise-Related Fatigue in Mice. *Foods* 13. 10.3390/foods13030489
- Liu Y, Li C, Shen X, and Liu Y. 2022. The use of traditional Chinese medicines in relieving exercise-induced fatigue. *Front Pharmacol* 13:969827. 10.3389/fphar.2022.969827
- Lomonosova YN, Shenkman BS, Kalamkarov GR, Kostrominova TY, and Nemirovskaya TL. 2014. L-arginine supplementation protects exercise performance and structural integrity of muscle fibers after a single bout of eccentric exercise in rats. *PLoS One* 9:e94448. 10.1371/journal.pone.0094448
- Lu L, Xu W, Feng L, Teng X, Ban W, Xue Y, Xing X, Zeng W, and Li B. 2024. Mechanism of Treadmill Exercise Combined with Rich Environmental Stimulation to Improve Depression in Post-stroke Depression Model Rats. *Actas Esp Psiquiatr* 52:693-704. 10.62641/aep.v52i5.1771
- Ma X, Chen H, Cao L, Zhao S, Zhao C, Yin S, and Hu H. 2021. Mechanisms of Physical Fatigue and its Applications in Nutritional Interventions. *J Agric Food Chem* 69:6755-6768. 10.1021/acs.jafc.1c01251
- Mast IH, Bongers C, Gootjes EC, de Wilt JHW, Hopman MTE, and Buffart LM. 2025. Potential mechanisms underlying the effect of walking exercise on cancer-related fatigue in cancer survivors. *J Cancer Surviv* 19:1132-1142. 10.1007/s11764-024-01537-y
- Maxwell AJ, Ho HV, Le CQ, Lin PS, Bernstein D, and Cooke JP. 2001. L-arginine enhances aerobic exercise capacity in association with augmented nitric oxide production. *J Appl Physiol* (1985) 90:933-938. 10.1152/jappl.2001.90.3.933
- Mccown D, Reibel D, and Micozzi MS. 2010. A History Exercise to Locate "Mindfulness" Now. *Springer New York*.
- Mcglory C, and Phillips SM. 2016. *Amino Acids and Exercise: The Molecular Nutrition of Amino Acids and Proteins*.
- Meeusen R. 2014. Exercise, nutrition and the brain. *Sports Med* 44 Suppl 1:S47-56. 10.1007/s40279-014-0150-5
- Meeusen R, Van Cutsem J, and Roelands B. 2021. Endurance exercise-induced and mental fatigue and the brain. *Exp Physiol* 106:2294-2298. 10.1113/ep088186
- Meeusen R, Watson P, Hasegawa H, Roelands B, and Piacentini MF. 2006. Central fatigue: the serotonin hypothesis and beyond. *Sports Med* 36:881-909. 10.2165/00007256-200636100-00006
- Meeusen R, Watson P, Hasegawa H, Roelands B, and Piacentini MF. 2007. Brain neurotransmitters in fatigue and overtraining. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab* 32:857-864. 10.1139/h07-080

957 Meng X, He Z, Guo L, Lin H, and Feng L. 2023. OSCA-finder: Redefining the assay of kidney disease diagnostic through  
 958 metabolomics and deep learning. *Talanta* 264:124745. 10.1016/j.talanta.2023.124745  
 959 Merry TL, and Ristow M. 2016. Do antioxidant supplements interfere with skeletal muscle adaptation to exercise  
 960 training? *J Physiol* 594:5135-5147. 10.1113/jp270654  
 961 Miglioranza Scavuzzi B, and Holoshitz J. 2022. Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress, Oxidative Stress, and Rheumatic  
 962 Diseases. *Antioxidants* 11. 10.3390/antiox11071306  
 963 Mioko N, Yuji S, and Kazuto S. 2013. Glutamine and exercise. *Jpfsm* 2:469-473.  
 964 Mohammadi M, Salehi AM, Azadi SM, Khajvand-Abedini M, Nazari-Serenjeh F, and Habibi P. 2025. Genistein  
 965 Enhances the Beneficial Effects of Exercise on Antioxidant and Anti-inflammatory Balance and  
 966 Cardiomyopathy in Ovariectomized Diabetic Rats. *Antiinflamm Antiallergy Agents Med Chem* 24:103-113.  
 967 10.2174/0118715230305886240916105248  
 968 Nelson DL, and Cox MM. 2005. *Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry*. New York : Worth Publishers.  
 969 Newsholme EA, and Blomstrand E. 1995. Tryptophan, 5-hydroxytryptamine and a possible explanation for central  
 970 fatigue. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 384:315-320. 10.1007/978-1-4899-1016-5\_25  
 971 Ni Z, Sun F, and Li Y. 2022. Heart Rate Variability-Based Subjective Physical Fatigue Assessment. *Sensors (Basel)* 22.  
 972 10.3390/s22093199  
 973 Nybo L, and Secher NH. 2004. Cerebral perturbations provoked by prolonged exercise. *Progress in Neurobiology* 72:223-  
 974 261. 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2004.03.005  
 975 Park S, and Moon HY. 2022. Urinary extracellular vesicle as a potential biomarker of exercise-induced fatigue in young  
 976 adult males. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 122:2175-2188. 10.1007/s00421-022-04995-3  
 977 Pollock NR, Rolland JP, Kumar S, Beattie PD, Jain S, Noubary F, Wong VL, Pohlmann RA, Ryan US, and Whitesides  
 978 GM. 2012. A Paper-Based Multiplexed Transaminase Test for Low-Cost, Point-of-Care Liver Function Testing.  
 979 *Science Translational Medicine* 4. 10.1126/scitranslmed.3003981  
 980 Powers SK, Radak Z, and Ji LL. 2016. Exercise-induced oxidative stress: past, present and future. *J Physiol* 594:5081-  
 981 5092. 10.1113/jp270646  
 982 Qian C, Zhou F, Lu D, Huang J, and Sun M. 2024. Exercise intensity and mortality in overweight and obese patients  
 983 with chronic kidney disease: longitudinal analysis (1999-2016). *BMC Public Health* 24:3020. 10.1186/s12889-024-  
 984 20498-6  
 985 Ristow M, and Zarse K. 2010. How increased oxidative stress promotes longevity and metabolic health: The concept of  
 986 mitochondrial hormesis (mitohormesis). *Exp Gerontol* 45:410-418. 10.1016/j.exger.2010.03.014  
 987 Rodrigues BM, Dantas E, de Salles BF, Miranda H, Koch AJ, Willardson JM, and Simão R. 2010. Creatine kinase and  
 988 lactate dehydrogenase responses after upper-body resistance exercise with different rest intervals. *J Strength*  
 989 *Cond Res* 24:1657-1662. 10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181d8e6b1  
 990 Roelands B, Goekint M, Buyse L, Pauwels F, De Schutter G, Piacentini F, Hasegawa H, Watson P, and Meeusen R. 2009.  
 991 Time trial performance in normal and high ambient temperature: is there a role for 5-HT? *Eur J Appl Physiol*  
 992 107:119-126. 10.1007/s00421-009-1109-3  
 993 Roelands B, and Meeusen R. 2010. Alterations in central fatigue by pharmacological manipulations of  
 994 neurotransmitters in normal and high ambient temperature. *Sports Med* 40:229-246. 10.2165/11533670-  
 995 000000000-00000  
 996 Romijn JA, Coyle EF, Sidossis LS, Gastaldelli A, Horowitz JF, Endert E, and Wolfe RR. 1993. Regulation of endogenous  
 997 fat and carbohydrate metabolism in relation to exercise intensity and duration. *American Journal of Physiology-  
 998 Endocrinology and Metabolism* 265:E380-E391. 10.1152/ajpendo.1993.265.3.E380  
 999 Ronghui S. 2015. The Reasearch on the Anti-Fatigue Effect of Whey Protein Powder in Basketball Training. *The Open*  
 1000 *Biomedical Engineering Journal* 9:330-334. 10.2174/1874120701509010330  
 1001 Royer N, Mira J, Lepetit N, Fayolle E, Camdessanché JP, and Millet GY. 2024. Benefits of Individualized Training in  
 1002 Fatigued Patients with Multiple Sclerosis. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 56:1623-1633. 10.1249/mss.0000000000003474  
 1003 Sánchez-Medina L, and González-Badillo JJ. 2011. Velocity loss as an indicator of neuromuscular fatigue during  
 1004 resistance training. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 43:1725-1734. 10.1249/MSS.0b013e318213f880  
 1005 Sequeira-Antunes B, and Ferreira HA. 2023. Urinary Biomarkers and Point-of-Care Urinalysis Devices for Early  
 1006 Diagnosis and Management of Disease: A Review. *Biomedicines* 11. 10.3390/biomedicines11041051  
 1007 Shijing Y, Feng JL, Furong HE, and Boying T. 2016. Effect of Transcutaneous Electrical Acupoint Stimulation on Red  
 1008 Blood Cell and Hemoglobin in College Athletes with Exercise Fatigue. *Rehabilitation Medicine* 26:43.

Shimomura Y, Kobayashi H, Mawatari K, Akita K, Inaguma A, Watanabe S, Bajotto G, and Sato J. 2009. Effects of squat exercise and branched-chain amino acid supplementation on plasma free amino acid concentrations in young women. *J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo)* 55:288-291. 10.3177/jnsv.55.288

Song Y, Shi X, Gao Z, Li R, Tian J, Cao X, Yang B, Zhao S, and Yang Y. 2023. Acupoint Catgut Embedding Improves Lipid Metabolism in Exercise-Induced Fatigue Rats via the PPAR Signaling Pathway. *Animals (Basel)* 13. 10.3390/ani13040558

Sopić M, Devaux Y, and de Gonzalo-Calvo D. 2024. Navigating the path of reproducibility in microRNA-based biomarker research with ring trials. *Clin Chem Lab Med* 62:2393-2397. 10.1515/cclm-2024-0531

Sutoo D, and Akiyama K. 2003. Regulation of brain function by exercise. *Neurobiol Dis* 13:1-14. 10.1016/s0969-9961(03)00030-5

Telles GD, Libardi CA, Conceição MS, Vechin FC, Lixandrão ME, Mangone FRR, Pavanelli AC, Nagai MA, Camera DM, Hawley JA, and Ugrinowitsch C. 2023. Interrelated but Not Time-Aligned Response in Myogenic Regulatory Factors Demethylation and mRNA Expression after Divergent Exercise Bouts. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 55:199-208. 10.1249/mss.0000000000003049

Teymourian H, Tehrani F, Mahato K, and Wang J. 2021. Lab under the Skin: Microneedle Based Wearable Devices. *Adv Health Mater* 10:e2002255. 10.1002/adhm.202002255

Thompson PD, Arena R, Riebe D, and Pescatello LS. 2013. ACSM's new preparticipation health screening recommendations from ACSM's guidelines for exercise testing and prescription, ninth edition. *Curr Sports Med Rep* 12:215-217. 10.1249/JSR.0b013e31829a68cf

Tornero-Aguilera JF, Jimenez-Morcillo J, Rubio-Zarapuz A, and Clemente-Suárez VJ. 2022. Central and Peripheral Fatigue in Physical Exercise Explained: A Narrative Review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 19. 10.3390/ijerph19073909

Vaamonde D, García-Manso JM, Algar-Santacruz C, Abbasi A, Sarmiento S, and Valverde-Esteve T. 2022. Behaviour of salivary testosterone and cortisol in men during an Ironman Triathlon. *Eur J Sport Sci* 22:1335-1342. 10.1080/17461391.2021.1955011

van Loon LJC, Greenhaff PL, Constantin - Teodosiu D, Saris WHM, and Wagenmakers AJM. 2001. The effects of increasing exercise intensity on muscle fuel utilisation in humans. *The Journal of Physiology* 536:295-304. 10.1111/j.1469-7793.2001.00295.x

Wang J, Zhang G, Wang D, Yan Y, and Yang Q. 2024. Effects of nano-Rhodiola rosea combined with treadmill exercise on anti-exercise fatigue in rats. *Front Nutr* 11:1446944. 10.3389/fnut.2024.1446944

Westerblad H, Allen DG, and Lännergren J. 2002. Muscle fatigue: lactic acid or inorganic phosphate the major cause? *News Physiol Sci* 17:17-21. 10.1152/physiologyonline.2002.17.1.17

Wu Y, Liu C, and Chen Q. 1999. [Effect of acupuncture on enzymology of motor neuron of anterior horn of experimental spinal cord injury in rats]. *Zhongguo Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Za Zhi* 19:740-742.

Xia H, Scholtes C, Dufour CR, Guluzian C, and Giguère V. 2023. ERRα fosters running endurance by driving myofiber aerobic transformation and fuel efficiency. *Mol Metab* 78:101814. 10.1016/j.molmet.2023.101814

Xu M, Jin H, Ge W, Zhao L, Liu Z, Guo Z, Wu Z, Chen J, Mao C, Zhang X, Liu CF, and Yang S. 2023. Mass Spectrometric Analysis of Urinary N-Glycosylation Changes in Patients with Parkinson's Disease. *ACS Chem Neurosci* 14:3507-3517. 10.1021/acschemneuro.3c00404

Yamagata T, and Sakuraba K. 2019. Changes in Urine Components and Characteristics During a 415-km Mountain Ultra-Marathon. *Juntendo Medical Journal* 65:368-377. 10.14789/jmj.2019.65.JMJ19-OA03

Yan K, Gao H, Liu X, Zhao Z, Gao B, and Zhang L. 2022. Establishment and identification of an animal model of long-term exercise-induced fatigue. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* 13:915937. 10.3389/fendo.2022.915937

Yáñez C. 2023. Acute fatigue in endurance athletes: The association between countermovement jump variables and creatine kinase response. *European Journal of Human Movement* 51. 10.21134/eurjhm.2023.51.10

Yin Z, Li D, Guo Q, Wang R, and Li W. 2024. Effect of Hb conformational changes on oxygen transport physiology. *Zhong Nan Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban* 49:467-475. 10.11817/j.issn.1672-7347.2024.230199

Zafrilla P, Marhuenda J, and Arcusa R. 2019. Sports Nutrition and Performance. In: Mozsik G, and Figler M, eds. *Nutrition in Health and Disease - Our Challenges Now and Forthcoming Time*. Rijeka: IntechOpen

Zhang R, Wang D, and Li JM. 2024. [Standardization of next-generation sequencing for detecting mutations associated with targeted therapy and immunotherapy based on dynamic pattern of expandable detection range]. *Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi* 104:1211-1215. 10.3760/cma.j.cn112137-20240105-00032

1061 Zhao H, Kurokawa T, Tajima M, Liu Z, and Okada J. 2025. Perceived exertion reflects fatigue conditions during power-  
1062 aimed resistance training. *International Journal of Sports Medicine* 46:437-445. 10.1055/a-2545-5403  
1063 Zhao H, Zhu H, Yun H, Liu J, Song G, Teng J, Zou D, Lu N, and Liu C. 2024. Assessment of Urolithin A effects on  
1064 muscle endurance, strength, inflammation, oxidative stress, and protein metabolism in male athletes with  
1065 resistance training: an 8-week randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *J Int Soc Sports Nutr*  
1066 21:2419388. 10.1080/15502783.2024.2419388  
1067 Zhao R, Wu R, Jin J, Ning K, Wang Z, Yi X, Kapilevich L, and Liu J. 2023. Signaling pathways regulated by natural  
1068 active ingredients in the fight against exercise fatigue-a review. *Frontiers in Pharmacology* 14.  
1069 10.3389/fphar.2023.1269878  
1070 Zheng C, Tang J, Pan X, Shen H, Hu Z, Zhang J, Wang L, Wu P, and Tan Y. 2025. Development and Validation of a  
1071 High-Performance Liquid Chromatography-Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry Method for the  
1072 Simultaneous Determination of Arsenic and Mercury Species in Human Urine. *Chemosensors* 13.  
1073 10.3390/chemosensors13030078  
1074 Zhong G, Liu Q, Wang Q, Qiu H, Li H, and Xu T. 2024. Fully integrated microneedle biosensor array for wearable  
1075 multiplexed fitness biomarkers monitoring. *Biosens Bioelectron* 265:116697. 10.1016/j.bios.2024.116697  
1076 Zhang Y, Fu P, Yu Q, Niu Q, Nie D, Dou X, and Zhang X. 2025. The impact of precompetition state on athletic  
1077 performance among track and field athletes using machine learning. *Front Physiol* 16:1429510.  
1078 10.3389/fphys.2025.1429510  
1079